# UNIVERSITY OF WUPPERTAL BERGISCHE UNIVERSITÄT WUPPERTAL

EUROPÄISCHE WIRTSCHAFT UND INTERNATIONALE MAKROÖKONOMIK



Jens K. Perret

## A Core-Periphery Pattern in Russia – Twin Peaks or a Rat's Tail

Diskussionsbeitrag 178 Discussion Paper 178

Europäische Wirtschaft und Internationale Wirtschaftsbeziehungen European Economy and International Economic Relations ISSN 1430-5445

Jens K. Perret

## A Core-Periphery Pattern in Russia – Twin Peaks or a Rat's Tail

December 2010

Herausgeber/Editor: Prof. Dr. Paul J.J. Welfens, Jean Monnet Chair in European Economic Integration

EUROPÄISCHES INSTITUT FÜR INTERNATIONALE WIRTSCHAFTSBEZIEHUNGEN (EIIW)/ EUROPEAN INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC RELATIONS Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Campus Freudenberg, Rainer-Gruenter-Straße 21, D-42119 Wuppertal, Germany Tel.: (0)202 – 439 13 71 Fax: (0)202 – 439 13 77 E-mail: welfens@eiiw.uni-wuppertal.de www.eiiw.eu

JEL classification: R11, R15, O10

Key words: Russian Federation, Clustering, Geographic Structure, Spillovers, Regional Economics, Spaital Econometrics

**Summary:** Due to its transition process in the decades 1990 - 2010 Russia has experienced a change in its regional structure. Its design is characterized by a core-periphery structure, where one can see that Russia has more than one economic core. The insight gained from this study is that convergence happens in Russia but only on a minor scale. Most of this economic convergence is a convergence of different convergence clubs becoming more similar or merging in contrast to a divergence inside the clubs. Furthermore, growth spillovers are analysed and it is observed that there are almost no significant positive growth effects across the Russian regions. Therefore, no endogenous forces are dynamic sources of the present regional structure of the Russian Federation.

**Zusammenfassung:** Aufgrund des Transformationsprozesses von 1990 bis 2010 hat Russland einen Wandel in seiner regionalen Struktur erfahren. Diese zeichnet sich kurz eine Kern-Periphery-Struktur, wobei mehr als ein Kern vorhanden ist. Die zentrale Einsicht hierbei ist, dass zwar ein Konvergenzprozess in Russland stattfindet allerdings auf einem sehr geringen Niveau. Ein Großteil dieser wirtschaftlichen Konvergenz findet statt al seine Konvergenz unterschiedlicher Konvergenzclubs zueinander im Gegensatz zu einer Divergenz innerhalb der Clubs. Weiterhin werden Spillover Effekte untersucht und es wird herausgearbeitet, dass es nahezu keine Regionen gibt, die positive Spillover Effekte generieren. Daher liegen keine endogenen Kräfte vor, die als dynamische Quelle der vorliegenden regionalen Struktur in der Russischen Förderation angesehen werden können.

Jens Perret, Research Assistant at European Institute for International Economic Relations (EIIW) at the University of Wuppertal, Rainer-Gruenter-Str. 21, D-42119 Wuppertal, Phone: +49-202-4391371, Fax: +49-202-4391377

Perret@wiwi.uni-wuppertal.de,, www.eiiw.eu

## A Core-Periphery Pattern in Russia – Twin Peaks or a Rat's Tail

**Discussion Paper 178** 

## **Table of Contents**

Table of ContentsI	I
List of TablesII	[
List of Figures II	]
1. Introduction 1	L
2. Basics	2
2.1 Data 2	
2.2 Methods	\$
2.2.1 Kernel Density Estimation	\$
2.2.2 Clustering	ŀ
2.2.3 Markov Chains	;
2.2.4 Measuring growth spillovers	;
3. Cluster Analysis	/
3.1 Absolute convergence - A single regional cluster	/
3.2 Identifying convergence clubs	3
3.2.1 k-means clustering approach	\$
3.2.2 Kernel density approach 11	
3.2.3 Visualization of the results and preliminary conclusions	;
3.3 Future development prospects 14	F
4. Growth spillovers in Russia 15	;
5. Conclusions and Policy Implications 20	)
5.1 Policy Implications	)
5.2 Conclusions	-
Acknowledegments	2
References	.23

## List of Tables

Table 1: Significance levels for variables - Single common cluster	8
Table 2: R2 values for the full data set	9
Table 3: Primary Core membership - full data set	10
Table 4: R <sup>2</sup> values for the reduced data set	10
Table 5: Markov chain analysis - Steady states / Percentage of regions in respective g	group14

## List of Figures

Fig. 1: Full data set: Kernel density estimation for 1998	.12
Fig. 2: Reduced data set: Kernel density estimation for 1998	.12
Fig. 3: Full data set: Kernel density estimation for 2004	.12
Fig. 4: Reduced data set: Kernel density estimation for 2004	.12
Fig. 5: Full data set: Kernel density estimation for 2007	.12
Fig. 6: Reduced data set: Kernel density estimation for 2007	.12
Fig. 7: Regional constellation in 1998	.13
Fig. 8: Regional constellation in 2001	.13
Fig. 9: Regional constellation in 2004	.13
Fig. 10: Regional constellation in 2007	.13
Fig. 11: Global Moran's I statistic - Traditional Neighborhood Matrix	.16
Fig. 12: Regional structure in 1994 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix	.16
Fig. 13: Regional structure in 1994 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.16
Fig. 14: Regional structure in 1998 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 15: Regional structure in 1998 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 16: Regional structure in 2003 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 17: Regional structure in 2003 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 18: Regional structure in 2007 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 19: Regional structure in 2007 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.17
Fig. 20: Moran Scatterplot - 1994 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.18
Fig. 21: Moran Scatterplot - 2007 200 km Cut-off Matrix	.18
Fig. 22: Development of Local Getis Ord statistic for the federal city of St. Petersburg	.19

### 1. Introduction

Since the break up of the Soviet Union in 1991, the gap between rich and poor or more aptly put between high and low income earners in Russia has steadily grown - partly stimulated by the Russian crisis in 1998<sup>1</sup>. It is an individual problem as well as a regional one. Rich regions as the two large federal cities or regions richly endowed in natural resources - mostly oil and gas - offer higher opportunities for well-paid employment and therefore a higher average income.

In the following study the economic regional structure in Russia is analyzed and future development trends as well as possible explanations are presented and discussed. The basic idea is to focus on the structure of economic welfare across Russian regions and to explain the regional wealth distribution by means of regional nearness, especially growth spillovers.

From a theoretical perspective (neighboring) regions are linked with each other through technology spillovers and economic backward and forward linkages along value-added chains; from the perspective of gravity models of trade, regional trade also has to be considered as well as infrastructure projects affecting interregional trading costs. Moreover, interregional migration could play a role that could create a negative link between regions i and j since those emigrating from region i will immigrate into region j.

Findings by BUCCELLATO (2007) show that spatial autocorrelation<sup>2</sup> is present in the context of a conditional regional convergence analysis of the Russian regions while the hypothesis of absolute convergence is rejected. It is implicitly indicated that convergence takes place in localized convergence clubs in contrast to an overall convergence process as predicted by pure neoclassical growth theory<sup>3</sup>.

In this context Russia differs for example from Canada that, although being a resource based economy itself and having similar ecological conditions, shows consistent levels of absolute convergence regarding per capita GRP as well as human capital<sup>4</sup>.

Advancing on regional conditional convergence in Russia, we are conducting tests to show that the Russian regions can be divided into significantly different subgroups concerning GRP. Furthermore, to observe the structural composition of the Russian regions tests are applied to periods of ten or fourteen years respectively of post transitional Russian development, starting in 1998 after the Russian-Asian crisis and in some cases after the first transition years in 1994.

In the following second section the data used are described and applied data-related restrictions are discussed. Moreover, the section gives a short description of the methods applied in the course of the later sections and their implementation. In the third section cluster analytic methods are applied and the results are derived from the application of a kernel density estimator. The results are graphically displayed and future development

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See WELFENS and WIEGERT (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A reference to the concept of spatial autocorrelation and related aspects of spatial econometrics can be found in ANSELIN (1988), ANSELIN et al. (1997) or SCHULZE (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See SOLOW (1956) and SWAN (1956). Even though, refering to GALOR (1996) and MOSSIG (2002), the construction of a neo-classical model, including convergence clubs, is rather problematic to construct and not robust.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See COULOMBE and LEE (1995), COULOMBE and TREMBLEY (1998) and COULOMBE and DAY (1999).

trends analysed. The fourth section takes the results from the third section and observes for spillover effects. Finally the fifth section concludes.

### 2. Basics

#### 2.1 Data

As the Russian transition process started in 1991, the available statistical data is limited. While Russian regional GRP per Capita (in rubles) is reported from 1994 onwards by GOSKOMSTAT (2009), the Russian-Asian crisis in 1998 and the problem that the Russian transition process has not nearly been finished in 1994, 1999 is a more prudent choice than 1994. Nevertheless, in some parts of the study we observe the total data set - starting in 1994 - restricting it to begin in 1998 or 1999 only if a starting point after the Russian is economically a more reasonable choice. Taking 1998 / 1999 as a starting point is supported by the findings of BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (2003a) as well as the description of the Russian crisis in WELFENS and WIEGERT (2002).

Furthermore, GRP data is only available up to 2007. While the reported data only gives nominal GRP, regional price indices are reported as well, allowing us to calculate consistent real GRP data. As prices differ across Russian regions rather strongly, the implementation of regional price levels instead of national prices has been imperative.

While analysing the regional GNP as well as the development of GRP would provide additional insights on labor mobility and regional interrelations, the lack of corresponding data prohibits this study from undertaking this kind of analysis<sup>5</sup>.

In the course of the study the division of Russia into regions follows the given division in krais, okrugs, republics and federal cities that are independent administrative units of the Russian Federation. The only exceptions are the autonomous okrugs in the krai Krasnoyarsk as well as the Tyumen oblast that are not observed separately. This leaves 80 Russian regions across a time horizon of ten and fourteen years, respectively.

A problem given by the regional division implemented is the absolute difference in geographic size of the regions as the smallest region, the city of Moscow, only spans an area of 1,081 km<sup>2</sup> while the largest region, the republic of Sakha, spans an area of 3,083,523 km<sup>2</sup>. Nonetheless, the city of Moscow is the richest of the Russian regions - this is a problem insofar as regional size thereby does not represent the region's wealth. Another problem is the distance between two regions. Not only are the economic centers as well as the population unequally distributed across the regions but also distances between the regions might be misleading; for example, the capital of the republic of Sakha is near its southern border so that distances to southern regions might appear geographically less than to north eastern or north western regions. Alleviation to this is that it is to be assumed that most economic activity is concentrated in the area around the capital city.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The expectation nonetheless is that the difference between regional GNP and GRP might be much higher for smaller regions and especially for the federal cities of Moscow and St. Petersburg where most industry is located in the surrounding oblast. Whereas it has to be considered that labor mobility to these cities is still rather limited.

#### **2.2 Methods**

#### 2.2.1 Kernel Density Estimation

As shown by CANOVA (2001) based on the works of QUAH (1995) kernel density approach is a reasonable solution for the detection of convergence clubs. For a sample  $\{x_1, x_2, ..., x_n\}$  of the random variable *X*, the kernel density estimator of the probability density function is given as follows<sup>6</sup>:

(1) 
$$X_h(x) = \frac{1}{nh} \sum_{i=1}^n K\left(\frac{\overline{x} - x_i}{h}\right)$$

Here the overline signifies taking the mean and parameter h defines the smoothness of the estimation. h is set equal to the optimal smoothness  $h^*$ , which is defined as:

(2) 
$$h^* = \frac{c_1^{-0.4} c_2^{0.2} c_3^{-0.2}}{n^{0.2}}$$
  
(3)  $c_1 = \int x^2 K(x) dx$   
(4)  $c_2 = \int K(x)^2 dx$   
(5)  $c_3 = \int f''(x)^2 dx$ 

Furthermore, the kernel \$K\$ is taken to be the Gaussian kernel defined as follows:

(6) 
$$K\left(\frac{\overline{x}-x_i}{h}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{\left(\overline{x}-x_i\right)^2}{2h^2}\right)$$

The resulting probability density function will be similar in form to the Gaussian distribution in the case of an independent and identically distributed X.

In the case that the data used shows more than one peak<sup>7</sup> distinct different groups exist. Especially, if two peaks are present for the distribution of income it can be surmised that a high and a low-income cluster are present. If more than two peaks are present, there exists a high diversity in the regional income distribution. Furthermore if one peak is clearly defined and is combined with a number of smaller peaks we refer to this phenomenon as a rat's tail, signifying a rather segmented structure on one side of the income distribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See PAZEN (1962).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In the case of the Gaussian distribution it should be around the mean.

The implementation of the kernel density estimator used in this study is the RSC AMC Minitab implementation.

#### 2.2.2 Clustering

The starting point of any clustering algorithm is a graph G(V,E,w), that consists of a set of vertices V, a set of edges E and weights w assigned to the edges. In the case of geographically distributed data, the weights of the edges can be interpreted as distances of the vertices from one another.

In the present case the set of vertices V is the set of Russian regions as defined in section 2.1 and the set of edges E is given by the canonical product V x V. Every vertex  $v_i$  has a value  $g_i$  given by the GDP per capita of the corresponding region. The weight of the edge  $(v_i, v_j)$  is calculated as  $|g_i - g_j|$ . Set E is thus given by the resulting adjacency matrix. Clustering algorithms can be applied accordingly.

The clustering algorithm applied in this study is a k-means-type algorithm, which is implemented as a tabu search clustering algorithm in the UCINET 6.15 program package by Analytictech.

A k-means algorithm was favored over a spectral clustering algorithm<sup>8</sup> with a variable number of clusters as the k-means algorithm allows to test different numbers of clusters and calculate significance levels for the overall fit<sup>9</sup>.

Nevertheless, a k-means algorithm is not prudent when testing for only a single common cluster. To observe for development concerning a single cluster we start from the absolute convergence approach motivated by neoclassical growth theory with a timeframe of one year<sup>10</sup>. In essence, the following equation is estimated:

(7) 
$$g_{GRP}^{t, t+1} = \alpha + \beta \ GRP_t + \mu$$

Where  $g_{GRP}^{t, t+1}$  is the growth rate of GRP for period *t*. Equation (7) is reformulated as:

(8) 
$$GRP_t = \alpha' + \beta' g_{GRP}^{t, t+1} + \mu'$$

If the resulting parameter  $\beta$ ' is insignificant while parameter  $\alpha$ ' is highly significant and the  $R^2$  value of the estimation is high as well, the presence of a single cluster can be assumed for the Russian regions.

An alternative when checking for convergence clubs is in observing for regional spatial heterogeneity<sup>11</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> HOSER and SCHRÖDER (2007) have used spectral clustering algorithms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CAPPELEN et al. (2003) use a k-means type algorithm as well to calculate convergence clubs in the European Union.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Compare BARRO and SALA-I-MARTIN (1991) or TONDL (2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See CHATTERJI and DEWHURST (1996).

#### 2.2.3 Markov Chains

From the broad range available on the characteristics of Markov chains in the course of this study only the calculation of the steady state is of importance<sup>12</sup>. A Markov chain herein consists of N regions that can be in one of m possible states at any point in time.  $A = (a_{i,j})_{i,j}$  then describes a m x m matrix with  $a_{i,j}$  giving the possibility that a region which at time t was in state i to be in state j at time t+1.

The normalized eigenvector to the eigenvalue zero of matrix *A* gives the distribution across states in the steady state.

#### 2.2.4 Measuring growth spillovers

Growth spillovers can be described as external effects of one region on another neighboring region. If spillovers are considered in economic research, mainly knowledge spillovers are observed.

Growth spillovers as in the economic performance of region A, having an influence on the economic performance of region B, are only the external facets of the underlying process of knowledge spillovers. Therefore, the following analysis of growth spillovers can be seen as an indirect measure of knowledge spillovers. As only the external facets of knowledge spillovers are observed it is not necessary to divide knowledge and related spillovers in categories of tacit or codified knowledge spillovers or knowledge spillovers by trade.

Even though, as argued below, it might be reasonable to take a look at the different types of knowledge spillovers as well, it is no part of the present study.

Spillovers in general are closely related to spatial autocorrelation, which is the econometricians' way of describing external effects across regions. As such, they can be measured in the same fashion. In course of this argument the global Moran's I statistic  $(I)^{13}$  as well as the local Getis-Ord statistic  $(G_i)^{14}$  are used to check for regional growth spillovers.

When the focus lies on the pure existence of spillovers, but not on the spillovers generated by individual regions we use the global version of the Moran's I. If instead the interest lies more in the question whether a region can be seen as growth enhancing or diminishing for other regions, the local Getis Ord statistic is better suited than the Moran's I statistic.

Central to both statistics is the matrix  $W=(w_{i,j})_{i,j}$  of spatial weights. In essence, this matrix represents the distance between two regions. The most common way to model such a matrix is by setting  $w_{i,j}=1$  if region *i* neighbors region *j* and vice versa. Furthermore, *W* needs to be row-normalized, so that the following restriction is kept:

(9) 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} = 1 \quad \forall i = 1, ..., N$$

Using the row-normalized matrix W, the Moran's I statistic is given as:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See HÄGGSTRÖM (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See MORAN (1950).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See GETIS and ORD (1992).

(10) 
$$I = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} \left( x_i - \overline{x} \right) \left( x_j - \overline{x} \right)}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \left( x_j - \overline{x} \right)^2}$$

Here N gives the number of spatial units, while  $x_i$  gives the value for region *i* and the overline signifies taking the mean.

The mean for the I-statistic is given as:

$$(11) \ \overline{I} = -\frac{1}{N-1}$$

Values above/below the mean<sup>15</sup> signify the presence of positive/negative autocorrelation and values near the mean signify the absence of autocorrelation.

When using the Getis Ord statistic the weights matrix is changed insofar as the entries of W,  $w_{i,j}$  are assigned zero if the linear distance between region *i* and region *j* is more than 400km and unity if the linear distance is lesser than 400 km. DOERING (2004) shows that the half time of distance decay for the European Union is less than 30 km and BOTTAZZI and PERI (2003) show that for the European Union the expected reach of spillovers is around 300 km<sup>16</sup>. Therefore, a radius of 200 km or 400 km is reasonable when observing spillover and cluster formation activities.

The local Getis Ord statistic is defined as:

(12) 
$$G_i = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} x_j - w_{i,i} x_i}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} - x_i}$$

and its mean is given as:

(13) 
$$\overline{G_i} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} - w_{i,i}}{n-1}$$

In contrast to the Moran's *I*, the Getis-Ord statistic focuses less on spillover activities and rather more on the formation of clusters or the differences in regional density. Furthermore, LE GALLO and DALL'ERBA (2006) argue that the Getis-Ord statistic is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For large N the mean converges to zero.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Nevertheless, it is necessary to note that VARGA (2000) and FUNKE and NIEBUHR (2000) propose a range of only 75 miles, while ANSELIN et al. (1997) show that spillovers generated by universities are bounded by a range of 50 km.

better suited to differentiate between core and periphery regions. Therefore in the following analysis the Getis-Ord statistic is chosen over the Moran's I.

There exists a range of more advanced approaches of measuring spatial autocorrelation as described by ANSELIN (1988), NIEBUHR (2001), TIEFELSDORF et al. (1999) and TIEFELSDORF (2002) or especially for the case when spatial heterogeneity is present as well by KARLSTRÖM and CECCATO (2002), which are not considered here but seem reasonable to be considered in future works.

A problem to be expected in this context is the size of the regions. Some of the Russian regions span large areas that lead the distance between regions to exceed the reach of spillovers of 300 km as shown for example for the European Union by BOTTAZZI and PERI (2003) and DÖRING (2004). Therefore it is assumed that spillovers will be much less pronounced in Russia than they are across European regions. Another aspect that strengthens this position is the relatively low level of labor mobility present in Russia, given for by governmental mobility restrictions as well as by the population being caught in a poverty gap<sup>17</sup>. Both aspects taken together are also the main reason why a cutoff distance of 400 km instead of 300 km is considered.

A question that arises in this context is whether regional size does have a distinct influence on the level of spillovers. Though, this question cannot be answered satisfactorily in any way, since it largely depends on the implemented neighborhood matrix. While a neighborhood constructed from neighboring regions would be beneficial especially for large regions with a large number of neighboring regions, whereas a neighborhood consisting of regions within a given radius around the center of the region would be beneficial for effects across smaller regions.

## 3. Cluster Analysis

#### 3.1 Absolute convergence - A single regional cluster

As was argued in section 2.2.2 a low significance level for the  $\beta$ '-coefficient together with a high significance level for the  $\alpha'$  coefficient and a high  $R^2$  indicates a single common structure. Theoretically, the result of the following estimation can be predicted by using the findings of BARANES and TROPEANO (2003) or BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (2003b) who show that regional convergence is inversely related to the distance of regions to each other. This argument is related to the basic principle of economic geography (KRUGMAN (1991), KRUGMAN (1998a) and KRUGMAN (1998b)), according to whom, regions closer to each other tend to influence each other more strongly and therefore tend to be more similar.

While the hypothesis of a common structure can already be rejected by comparing GRP values of for example Moscow and the Republic of Ingushetia, the results of the estimations as shown in Table 1 allow for the drawing of some additional conclusions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See ANDRIENKO and GURIEV (2004) or BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (2003b).

Except for 1994, 2004, 2005 and 2006 there has always been an insignificant  $\beta'$ coefficient. Furthermore, in all cases the  $R^2$  values are very small. While this shows on the
one hand the above mentioned absence of a common level of income and on the other hand
that even though no common structure can be detected in 1994, 2004, 2005 and 2006, there
was a slight movement towards a common structure; as the estimated model is similar to
the neoclassical growth model. While in itself this is no significant insight, it does show
that in the earlier transition period as well as in recent years the trend to converge to a
common structure is more accentuated than during the years inbetween. Politically, this is
an indication that policy measures especially by the Putin legislation show some small
successes.

Even though the results should not be misread as an overall absolute convergence process, as for this, the  $R^2$  values are still too low and the corresponding  $\beta$ -coefficients are very small.

As Russia has started to equilibrate the regional income differences a little over the last years; it still stays an open question if this process keeps on equating in light of the recent economic crisis. A subquestion to this would be whether clusters, founded voluntarily or not in the time of the Soviet Union, still dominate the regional structure of the Russian economy today and if so, to what extent. Even though, to answer this last question would be very hard as it still remains an open discussion how to classify the Soviet cluster and whether the Soviet clusters are comparable to a cluster in an open market economy.

	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
$R^2$	0.037	0.002	0.009	0.001	0.013	0.010	0.018
Sig. α	0.028	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000
Sig. $\beta$	0.074	0.674	0.367	0.726	0.288	0.346	0.208
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	_
$R^2$	0.004	0.020	0.000	0.064	0.068	0.031	
Sig. α	0.000	0.022	0.000	0.009	0.000	0.000	
Sig. $\beta$	0.574	0.187	0.922	0.018	0.014	0.013	

Table 1: Significance levels for variables - Single common cluster

#### 3.2 Identifying convergence clubs

The analysis of convergence clubs - as introduced by BAUMOL (1986) - is divided in two parts. It starts with an application of the above stated k-means algorithm, thereby getting an indication of how the Russian regions are structured according to income. Building on the general findings in this aspect and to strengthen these findings, a kernel density estimation is performed to see what form the overall distribution of income in Russian regions takes and if the assumptions of the preceding section are feasible under different measures.

#### 3.2.1 k-means clustering approach

In the preceding section the hypothesis of a single common cluster is rejected. Therefore, it is necessary to calculate the exact number of convergence clubs and observe their development path or whether their number remains constant over time. The analysis of growth spillovers in section 4 necessitates a preceding description of the economic structure across the observed regions as the structure of the Russian regions is nothing less than the external facet of the ongoing process of regional economic change. Whereas this process is in a large part influenced by interregional interaction, which can by itself be described by interregional spillovers. Therefore, before the process of change is observed in detail its external facet over the last years is described.

For reasons mentioned in the second section this part restricts itself to the use of data starting from 1998.

The k-means algorithm offers a prudent means to sort a set of regions in a pre-specified number of groups and estimate the fit of this grouping. In detail the k-means algorithm is applied to the data for a number of two to five groups. Five groups are taken as a preliminary upper bound as CAPPELEN et al. (2003) find four to five clusters for the European Union and it seems prudent to believe that Russia as a formerly centrally planed country will show even less clusters. The corresponding  $R^2$  value is taken as an estimate of the quality of the grouping. The following Table 2 gives an overview of the  $R^2$  values arranged by the number of clusters<sup>18</sup>.

Year	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
$R^2 - 2$ Groups	0.601	0.613	0.647	0.635	0.727	0.765	0.668	0.739	0.730	0.774
$R^2 - 3$ Groups	0.611	0.611	0.646	0.641	0.727	0.764	0.671	0.740	0.729	0.775
$R^2 - 4$ Groups	0.605	0.570	0.633	0.637	0.723	0.761	0.668	0.629	0.660	0.773
$R^2 - 5$ Groups	0.556	0.569	0.585	0.635	0.700	0.692	0.597	0.575	0.647	0.770

The development of these last indicators can be interpreted as an indication that the differences in Russian regions' income are constantly - with the exception of 2002 - rising. The  $R^2$  values in later years are much higher than in earlier ones. Even though, these  $R^2$  values themselves are not comparable to the  $R^2$  values of the estimations in the preceding section 3.1. Here high  $R^2$  values even for a larger number of clusters might not necessarily indicate divergence of income, but they do not rule it out either - only the groups become more clearly defined, which signifies that the groups might diverge from each other. It should be noted that this also strengthens the observation of the preceding section that for most periods the neoclassical conclusion of poor regions growing faster than rich ones and of resulting regional convergence (BARRO and SALA-I-MARTIN (1991) and TONDL (2001)) does not hold in Russia. However, some questions remain unasked for 1994 and 2004-2006.

It can be alleviated insofar as for most periods, the rise in  $R^2$  values for two and three groups in comparison to four or five groups are an extended indicator for convergence and indicate a structure with fewer clusters. However, it is still possible that the regions in these groups by themselves diverge rather drastically.

Combined with the insights gained in section 3.1 it is reasonable to assume that in the observed time horizon in Russia there is a prevalent structure, where there are, on the one hand, few rich regions and on the other hand, many poor ones. Heedless of the fact

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> From now on the dataset consisting of all Russian regions considered in the analysis will be called the *full* set.

whether the distinction between two or three groups has to be made it can be concluded, that the number of distinct groups has declined, which means that groups converge with themselves and therefore merge. Furthermore, only in recent years a slight overall trend for convergence is present while in the years before 2003 there was nearly no structural change meaning that the structure inside the groups remains fixed.

In addition to the aforementioned, the most important insight from Table 2 is that the best fit is achieved either with two or three groups. Even though, it is not significantly clear if either two or three yield the optimal structuring.

Though, if the group assignments are considered, the two-group solution is more reasonable. In the three-group solution in every period there is at least one group with only one region assigned to it. Therefore, a structure of two groups is assumed. The groups are termed primary core - for the group of richer regions - and periphery - for the group of poor regions.

An overview as to which regions are assigned to the primary core and in what years can be found in Table 3.

v	L
Region	Years of primary core membership
Federal City Moscow	1998 – 2007
Oblast Tyumen	1998 – 2007
Republic of Komi	1998
Republic of Sakha	1998, 1999, 2001
Oblast Kamchatka	1998
Oblast Magadan	1998
Oblast Sakhalin	2007
Autonomous okrug Chukotka	1998, 2001 – 2004, 2007

Table 3: Primary Core membership - full data set

For the exception of Moscow and the oblast Tyumen no region stays part of the primary core in all periods. It is noteworthy that the regions that make up the primary core are the city of Moscow and those regions well endowed in natural resources, especially oil, gas and precious metals as in the case of the oblast Tyumen, the autonomous okrug Chukotka, the Republic of Sakha or the oblast Sakhalin.

Furthermore, it can be seen that the primary core regions have GRP per capita levels that are well above those of the average Russian region. To check if those regions distort the results and to structure the remaining regions in more detail, we exclude the primary core from the ongoing analysis. The resulting data set will be referred to as the reduced data set. In an analogy to the construction of Table 2, the k-means algorithm is applied to the reduced data set and the results are shown in Table 4 below.

Year	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
$R^2 - 2$ Groups	0.468	0.568	0.546	0.505	0.451	0.468	0.522	0.482	0.456	0.479
$R^2 - 3$ Groups	0.519	0.561	0.551	0.512	0.475	0.488	0.527	0.485	0.456	0.489
$R^2 - 4$ Groups	0.516	0.553	0.547	0.520	0.492	0.504	0.528	0.484	0.454	0.488
$R^2 - 5$ Groups	0.510	0.544	0.541	0.519	0.491	0.503	0.527	0.478	0.443	0.487

 Table 4: R<sup>2</sup> values for the reduced data set

As the values in Table 4 are generally lower than those in Table 2, the level of similarity among the regions from the reduced set is significantly higher than that from the full set as the fit of even two different groups is worse than that in the first table. Even though, there are some observations that favor the three-group structure over the two-group structure<sup>19</sup>. As the full data set proposes a two-group or a three-group structure, a two-group structure is more likely for the reduced set. Though, instead of taking the three-group structure from the first part of the analysis, the two-group structure of the second part is taken in order to divide the periphery into an inner periphery - the group of richer regions of the periphery - and an outer periphery - the group of poorer regions.

Combining the generally lower  $R^2$  values for the reduced set and an overall declining trend of convergence at least up to 2004<sup>20</sup> leads to the conclusion that the Russian regions, excluding the capital and major oil and gas producing regions, are diverging and the divergence is no longer across groups but across regions. This holds even more in earlier periods as has been shown in section 3.1. Combining 3.1 with these insights it seams that the convergence observed in later years is merely an artefact generated by a *convergence* of the different clubs with each other and less so by overall regional convergence, which is also underlined by the results from Table 2.

In favor of this argument, SOLANKO (2003) shows by means of an analysis of  $\beta$ - and  $\sigma$ convergence across Russian regions that the regions themselves are conditionally converging. This is an indicator that indeed there is less divergence across regions but rather a convergence with different clubs and an overall convergence of clubs. Even though, SOLANKO (2003) draws the conclusion that there is a convergence across the poorer regions.

#### 3.2.2 Kernel density approach

To strengthen the conclusions of the preceding section, kernel density estimates for the full as well as the reduced data set are presented in Figures 1 through 6. They are given for the years 1998, 2004 and 2007. To predict the number of clusters, the procedure as used in CANOVA (2001), QUAH (1995) or CANTNER et al. (2004) is applied.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This can also be explained by the results of section 3.1 that in the years between 1998 and 2004 there is a distinct level of no convergence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Even the  $R^2$  values for 2005, 2006 and 2007 are only slightly higher for the three-group case than for the four-group case.

Fig. 1: Full data set: Kernel density estimation for 1998



Fig. 3: Full data set: Kernel density estimation for 2004



density estimation for 2007





Fig. 4: Reduced data set: Kernel density estimation for 2004



Fig. 6: Reduced data set: Kernel density estimation for 2007

The rat's tail in the full data set, being made up by the extreme members of the primary core, can be clearly seen and stays relatively constant over time. When eliminating the primary core regions from the data set, there is significant change in the density estimation. Contrary to the reduced set, it can be seen that especially in 1998 the Russian regions showed a structure slightly reminiscent of the twin peak structures seen for example in the regions of the European Union<sup>21</sup>. Though, the two peaks did develop from 1998 onwards, they merge over time so that in 2007 only a single peak exists for the reduced set. Even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See QUAH (1995) and CANTNER et al. (2004).

though this structure in combination with the last section gives credit to the implementation of a two-group structure for the periphery.

Furthermore, the figures strengthen the results that a convergence process has been happening over time from 1998 to 2007 - though mostly in the later years. If only the reduced data set is observed, the figure for 2004 clearly shows a density function with more than one peak so that the result of inner periphery divergence - at least up to 2004 can be held. Even though, this figure also shows that from 2004 to 2007 there is also a distinct level of inner group convergence.

#### **3.2.3** Visualization of the results and preliminary conclusions

Following the last sections and the grouping of regions in the three convergence clubs of primary core, inner and outer periphery, it is necessary to consider the geographical structure of those groups. While the archetypical design would be for the primary core regions to cluster in the center and the inner periphery to surround them and the outer periphery being the regions farthest away from the center, other constellations are possible. The following figures<sup>22</sup> give an overview over the constellation of regions in 1998, 2001, 2004 and 2007. Herein, the black regions are the primary core, the dark grey ones are the inner periphery regions of Eastern Russia that have before been part of the primary core and the white regions are those of the outer periphery as well as those not considered in the analysis.



Fig. 7: Regional constellation in 1998



Fig. 9: Regional constellation in 2004



Fig. 8: Regional constellation in 2001



Fig. 10: Regional constellation in 2007

The figures show that the present constellations do not match the traditional singlecentered ones - especially not the model by KRUGMAN (1991), which implies an industrialized core and an agricultural periphery. Instead, there are three central clusters:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Maps are taken from THEODORA (2008).

the city of Moscow, the oblast Tyumen and the northeast of Russia. Furthermore it can be seen that the inner periphery does indeed surround the primary core. Even though, it does so mostly for the oblast Tyumen and the northeast, while Moscow is rather isolated. It can also be seen that the outer periphery mostly consists of regions in the south and the southwest. Comparing the maps with BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (1999) it can be seen that the regions of the outer periphery are mostly comprised of regions of the so-called *Red Belt*<sup>23</sup> of Russia. Also noticeable is that most of the westernmost inner periphery regions are clustered on the eastern outside of the Golden Ring of Russia. Whereas the regions of the Golden Ring themselves are neither primary core nor inner periphery regions.

The question as to why the federal city of St. Petersburg and the surrounding oblast are not members of the primary core is indirectly answered by TRUMBULL (2003), who shows that St. Petersburg, contrary to Moscow, is less based on economic dynamics and more on non-economic drivers of development. The peripheral position within Russia and within Europe is also impairing the economic dynamics of St. Petersburg. Promoting growth of ICT industries and of other *weightless goods* sectors might thus be considered by policy makers.

Comparison of the four figures shows that the most noticeable change in the overall structure is a westward movement of the inner periphery and a change from primary core to inner periphery of the northeastern regions.

While indeed little structural change took place in Russia in the last decade and there have been little to no efforts in establishing a working structural policy for Russia, the figures show that indeed a process of change has been in progress. Even though, it is not clear where this process will lead, especially in light of the still ongoing economic crisis and the high resource dependence of the Russian economy.

#### 3.3 Future development prospects

Using the three groups established in the last section as possible states a region can achieve, it is possible to calculate steady states using ideas from the field of the Markov chain analysis. For more comprehensive results the ten-year timehorizon is split into two parts: the early years from 1998 to 2002 and the later years from 2002 to 2007. Whereas, in the early period the last year is varied and in the later period the first year is varied. Table 5 gives an overview of the achievable steady states. It is obvious that in the earlier years a distinct downward trend could be observed, while in the later years the trend depicts an upward trend.

 Table 5: Markov chain analysis - Steady states / Percentage of regions in respective group

	Primary	Inner	Outer
	Core	Periphery	Periphery
2002 - 2007	100	0	0
2003 - 2007	100	0	0
2004 - 2007	100	0	0

<sup>23</sup> Regions that voted for the communist party in the 1992 election.

1998 - 2002	0	0	100
1998 - 2001	0	0	100
1998 - 2000	0	0	100

Combined with the insights gained from the previous section, it can be seen that the years following the Russian-Asian crisis still had to tackle some problems even though the economy itself was already recuperating<sup>24</sup>. Combined with the convergence results above, it can be seen that the Russian-Asian crisis lead to a divergence process across regions while single regional groups began merging, leading to lesser groups but increasingly more diversified ones. The turnaround came only around 2006, 2007 when a slow convergence across regions began, followed by an even more pronounced economic upward movement.

### 4. Growth spillovers in Russia

While the preceding analysis has been on economic welfare of the Russian regions, in this section the influence the regions have on each other is estimated. This approach might help to explain the structure observed in section 3.2.

The influence of region i on region j can be seen as the level of spillovers from region i into region j. As has been argued in section 2, those spillovers can be measured by using indicators of spatial autocorrelation as Moran's I and the Getis Ord statistic.

It has to be stressed that the spillovers that are estimated below are mainly indirect spillovers. Indirect insofar as spillovers are related to knowledge transfers; though, we take a look at growth spillovers - if the level of GRP per capita in one region has an influence on the GRP per capita on a neighboring region. As growth impulses are transfered via knowledge transfers, the knowledge transfers are only indirectly estimated. Nonetheless, it is necessary to mention that spillovers are generated by trade of high technology goods, transfer of human capital (tacit knowledge) or transfers of codified knowledge. As interregional labor mobility is rather low in Russia (ANDRIENKO and GURIEV (2004)), it stands to reason that the spillovers generated in Russia are mainly due to interregional trade in goods and transfers of codified knowledge. Though, the exact importance of the three types of spillovers requires an analysis of interregional knowledge input and output, which is not done here. Furthermore, as the main aspects of spillovers are through tacit knowledge transfers, the low mobility combined with the size of some regions leads to expectations of rather low levels of spillovers in general.

To give a first impression of the interactions of the Russian regions over the fourteen years of transition, Figure 12 shows the global Moran's I statistic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See WIEGERT (2003) or WELFENS and WIEGERT (2002).





As eighty regions are used in the analysis, the mean for the statistic is approximately 0.01266. Figure 11 shows that in all fourteen years the statistic is significantly above the mean, even though it is oscillating around 0.9. It can furthermore be seen that the process loosely follows the Russian business cycle and therefore, in the last period, is following an upward trend. This also shows that in years of good overall economic development the interaction between regions rises. This motivates the question whether Russian growth spillovers determine economic growth or whether economic growth determines spillovers. The role the regions play in the overall growth process is illustrated in the following eight figures 12-19. The regions highlighted in light grey are regions showing positive spillover effects while the regions in dark grey are regions showing negative spillover effects. The positive spillover effects can be interpreted as the presence of a cluster of high valued regions, while negative values show a cluster of very low valued regions.



Fig. 12: Regional structure in 1994 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix



Fig. 13: Regional structure in 1994 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix



Fig. 14: Regional structure in 1998 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix



Fig. 15: Regional structure in 1998 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix



Fig. 16: Regional structure in 2003 – Getis Ord 400 km Cut-off Matrix



Fig. 17: Regional structure in 2003 – Getis Ord 200 km Cut-off Matrix



The charts for the 200 km cut-off matrix show that very little spillover activity has been present in Russia across the observed time horizon. This is due to two reasons. Almost 40 percent of the Russian regions, including nearly all regions highly endowed in natural resources are farther away from each other than 200 km. Aside from the area surrounding Moscow, very few changes have taken place in the structure of grow enhancing and diminishing regions.

It is mentionable that a large part of the Caucasian is showing distinct negative spillover effects and thus signifies an area of bad economic development and also bad economic development prospects.

In contrast to that, the cluster made up by the oblasts Chelyabinsk, Kurgan and Sverdlovsk is the most resistant high value cluster over all periods. If the radius of influence is increased to 400 km as shown in the figures for the 400 km Cut-Off matrix, the cluster of the above-mentioned three oblasts still stays highly positive. If furthermore it is assumed that all regions reporting values of around  $\pm/-10\%$  of the mean show mere random fluctuations from the mean; the cluster of the oblasts Chelyabinsk, Kurgan and Sverdlovsk is the only area of significantly positive valued regions left.



The Moran scatterplots in Figures 20 and 21 furthermore illustrate that in 1994, as well as in 2007, there are distinctly more regions with a low GRP per capita also reporting a low spatial lag<sup>25</sup> as there are rich regions with a positive spatial lag. The most noticeable difference from 1994 to 2007 is that the number of regions that lie in the upper left and the lower right quadrant rises over the 13-year-period. This is a possible explanation for the decrease of clustering activities over the years concerning a 200 km radius as observed in the figures above.

The figures for the 400 km cut-off matrix also show trends that are reminiscent of what could already be seen in Figures 7 - 10 on the structural composition of the Russian regions. The westward movement is noticeable as well as the fact, that over time eastern Russian regions change from positive to negative effects. Furthermore, it can be seen that many resource endowed regions report negative values as is also true for almost all Caucasian regions reaching northward till the edge of the Golden Ring and many of the Red Belt regions. As still many of the far eastern regions of Russia are beyond the 400 km distance it is not possible to get full results on the future prospects of primary core versus periphery regions.

What can be seen from the figures is that while the primary core is strong by itself and seems to have some marginal influences on neighboring regions, these influences are not very strong. This is mainly because the primary core region, Moscow, is only a single region surrounded by parts of the inner periphery, which nonetheless is made up of lower valued regions and therefore stands alone. It is nonetheless mentionable that the regions

Spatial 
$$Lag_i = \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} \left( \overline{x} - x_j \right)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The spatial lag of a region is the sum over all weighted deviations from the mean of the considered variable. In mathematical notation:

surrounding Moscow report positive spillover effects, which go along with the findings of BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (2003a) who show that the distance to Moscow is still relevant for growth in Russia. Therefore, the reported spillover levels of the surrounding regions might merely be an artifact of the nearness to Moscow and less so of high levels of cross regional spillovers.

Tyumens reported positive values are very low, showing that the positive spillover effects are only of a marginal nature.

The inner periphery by itself cannot clearly be divided into growth enhancers or diminishers as especially the eastern regions around the krai Krasnoyarsk report in the later years more and more negative valued regions. Additionally, the change in western Russia happens mostly in the northwestern part and on a far smaller scale.

As for a smaller cut off distance and the introduction of a level of fuzziness of 10% around the mean, almost no spillover effects remain, it seems that if spillovers are present in Russia they are only generated over a larger distance and if so only on a very small level, which might be due to a low mobility of tacit knowledge in Russia. It adds to the comments in section 2.1 and CANIËLS and VERSPAGEN (2001) who show that rise in spillover levels leads to a rise in regional convergence - concluding that a low level of spillovers implicates a low level of regional convergence.

The general low level of interregional convergence and spillover activities might be explained by the trend of sinking levels of interregional trade in contrast to rising levels of international trade of the regions<sup>26</sup>. Additionally, GUENTHER (2010) shows that while the regions are not too far apart, they mostly lack the infrastructure to absorb foreign knowledge and technologies. Concerning the formation of clusters, GOLOVANOVA (2010) shows that cluster formation in general is low in Russia. She also argues about the motivation for the lack of interenterprise cooperation.



Fig. 22: Development of Local Getis Ord statistic for the federal city of St. Petersburg

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For this development see BERKOWITZ and DEJONG (2003b) and ECKEY et al. (2005).

Finally, to give an example of the development trends, Figure 23 illustrates the local Getis Ord statistics for the city of St. Petersburg and a neighborhood of 200 km, 400 km and 1000 km cut-off matrices. The first insight gained is that even though the approaches to measure the neighborhood differ, the development trends are similar. In all these cases the statistic more or less fluctuates around the mean with a relatively stable periodicity while the amplitude of the fluctuations decreases over time. Furthermore, the downward trends due to the Russian-Asian crisis as well as the one due to the dot-com crisis can be identified. Finally, for the last periods a new downward trend can be seen to begin. If the cyclic development keeps on, it can be that the transatlantic banking crisis will coincide with a depression according to the figure, but starting around 2010 a turnaround should lead to improvement again.

## 5. Conclusions and Policy Implications

#### **5.1 Policy Implications**

The discussion of the regional structure and growth effects in Russia has shown that the drivers of economic development are mostly regions well endowed with natural resources. However, this is only restating the obvious insights gained by looking at the population structure. From a theory-oriented point of view a growth pole oriented approach<sup>27</sup> or a Kaldorian cumulative causation approach<sup>28</sup> might be more appropriate in describing the economic development than a spillover or convergence club oriented approach.

While regions of the richer part of the periphery are mostly located around primary core members, almost all economically weak regions are located on the outer parts of Russia, especially in the southwestern area of Caucasia. It has also been shown that a cluster showing significant levels of regional spillovers only exists in one place and with only three members it is considered to be rather small. This leads to two fundamental policy implications.

It is necessary to establish a systematical structural policy in Russia with a special focus on those regions termed outer periphery, especially those in the Caucasian area. Incentives for more private investments are necessary but also more public investment and possibly higher government expenditures on education and research and development. An economic strengthening of the Caucasian regions might also improve the political situation in those regions. This in turn might have a positive feedback effect on the economic development.

Following the studies by KEILBACH (2002), CANIËLS and VERSPAGEN (2001), DE LA FUENTE (2000) and AHREND (2002), the most important aspects when trying to influence the national convergence process as well as spillover and cluster formation activities is the formation of highly qualified human capital. The formation of human capital works in the direction of creating and strengthening the regional potential for absorbtion of foreign knowledge and technologies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See PERROUX (1948) and PERROUX (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See KALDOR (1957).

Second, it is necessary to facilitate and promote the establishment of clusters or structures similar in nature to clusters - on a regional as well as on a national level. A reasonable starting point in this endeavor is to take a look at the cluster policies implemented for example in the European Union and especially in Germany, where a large number of clusters for example in the automotive industry exist. Given the different situations in Russia and the European Union, it is necessary to adapt the European cluster policies to the Russian situation before implementing them. Additionally, it is necessary to keep in mind that policy makers only have limited possibilities in influencing the convergence process directly<sup>29</sup>.

Aspects also necessary to be considered when implementing European structural policy in Russia are the large distances between economic centers in Russia. A solution for this problem can be found by promoting approaches as discussed in the literature on Far- and Nearshoring and especially aspects such as long-distance-Just-in-Time as well as labor mobility enhancing policies.

Even though, before any options can be implemented, it is necessary to design the economic environment insofar as the regions have to become fully functional market economic entities without serious problems such as massive corruption or a high level of bureaucracy and a negative investment climate. In short, it is necessary for Russia as a whole to finish its transition process and abolish the last remnants of the former soviet system and at the same time pave the way for new economic developments. In this context it is necessary to tackle the problems already mentioned by VASILIEV (1994) which are mostly still unsolved till today or even simply guarantee contract rights as mentioned as a major problem by GOLOVANOVA (2010).

Most of the mentioned aspects can be subsumed to the establishment of fully functional institutions<sup>30</sup> and high quality stock of human capital.

#### **5.2 Conclusions**

The regional structure and related growth spillover effects and therefore the clustering of regions in Russia have been studied in this paper. It has been shown that Russia can be divided into three groups reminiscent of the core-periphery structure refered to in economic geography, with the exception that the periphery can be divided into an inner and an outer periphery. In contrast to traditional results, the core regions are not clustered in one place but mainly in three, surrounded mostly by inner periphery regions. The main insight gained from this analysis has been that there is indeed movement to a single structure in Russia but it is still very weak and has only been present in the last years observed in this study. Furthermore, the convergence process has mostly been across convergence clubs being accompanied by a slight divergence process inside the convergence clubs.

In a second part, the ties between the regions have been analyzed using indicators of global and local regional autocorrelation. It has been shown that while growth-enhancing ties are present, clusters reporting high values can mostly be found in the center of Russia or in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See CAPPELEN et al. (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See POPOV (2001) for the importance of working institutions for the Russian regions.

area surrounding Moscow. Considering the significance of spillovers in the analysis, it is revealed that only a cluster of three regions remains. This leads to the conclusion that in Russia there are some growth spillover effects present but mostly of a minor, insignificant nature.

What still needs to be done is an in-depth study of spillovers of economic growth but more so by directly analyzing potential knowledge spillovers on a disaggregated level. Here it is especially important to take a look at the different aspects of knowledge spillovers, as in spillovers generated by codified knowledge transfers by patents, especially patent citations or by tacit knowledge transfers via human capital mobility measured by inventor mobility. Third, the influence of interregional trade on knowledge generation and spillovers as well as the resulting economic growth needs to be analysed. Though, before knowledge spillovers can be studied satisfactorily, a basic description of the Russian system of knowledge generation and consumption is necessary.

In the field of economic policy, it is necessary to establish a feasible system of structural policy that fits the Russian characteristics while in nature implementing important aspects as being present in the structural policy of the European Union. Particular fields that have to be discussed are related industrial policy issues. In more detail, questions as to whether it is reasonable to establish and support local growth centers or whether a strategy of industrial dispersion should be supported, have to be discussed and a description of possible gains is necessary. Even more so, it is necessary that aspects of the economic system that are counter productive to establishing working growth oriented policy need to be named and a strategy has to be found to alleviate these aspects.

#### Acknowledegments

The author likes to thank Mr. Paul J.J. Welfens for helpful comments as well as Mrs. Olga Sieben for technical support.

### References

- AHREND, R. (2002), "Speed of Reform, Initial Conditions, Political Orientation, or What? Explaining Russian Regions' Economic Performance", DELTA Working Paper 2002/10.
- ANDRIENKO, Y. and GURIEV, S. (2004), "Determinants of Interregional Mobility in Russia", Economics of Transition 12, 1-27.
- ANSELIN, L., VARGA, A. and ACS, Z. (1997), "Local Geographic Spillovers between Universities Research and High Technology Innovations", Journal of Urban Economics 42, 422-448.
- ANSELIN, L. (1988), "Spatial Econometrics: Methods and Models", Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1. edition.
- BARANES, E. and TROPEANO, J.-P. (2003), "Why are Technological Spillovers Spatially Bounded? A Market Oriented Approach", Regional Science and Urban Economics 33, 445-466.
- BARRO, R.J. and SALA-I-MARTIN, X. (1991), "Convergence across States and Regions", Brookings Papers on Economic Activity 1, 107-182.
- BAUMOL, W.J. (1986), "Productivity Growth, Convergence, and Welfare: What the Long-Run Data Show", The American Economic Review 76, 1072-1085.
- BERKOWITZ, D. and DEJONG, D.N. (1999), "Russia's Internal Border", Regional Science and Urban Economics 29, 633-649.
- BERKOWITZ, D. and DEJONG, D.N. (2003a), "Policy Reform and Growth in Post-Soviet Russia", European Economic Review 47, 337-352.
- BERKOWITZ, D. and DEJONG, D.N. (2003b), "Regional Integration: An Empirical Assessment of Russia", Journal of Urban Economics 53, 541-559.
- BOTTAZZI, L. and PERI, G. (2003), "Innovation and Spillovers in Regions: Evidence from European Patent Data", European Economic Review 47, 687-710.
- BUCCELLATTO, T. (2007), "Convergence across Russian Regions: A Spatial Econometrics Approach", CeFiMS Discussion Paper 70.
- CANIËLS, M.C.J. (2000), "Knowledge Spillovers and Economic Growth", Edward Elgar, 1. edition.
- CANIËLS, M.C.J. and VERSPAGEN, B. (2001), "Barriers to Knowledge Spillovers and Regional Convergence in an Evolutionary Model", Journal of Evolutionary Economics 11, 307-329.
- CANOVA, F. (2001), "Testing for Convergence Clubs in Income per-capita: A Predictive Density Approach", HWWA Discussion Paper 139.
- CANTNER, A.; EBERSBERGER, B.; HANUSCH, H.; KRÜGER, J.J. and PYKA, A. (2004), "The Twin Peaks in National Income Parametric and Nonparametric Estimates", Revue Economique 55, 1127-1144.

- CAPPELEN, A.; CASTELLACCI, F.; FAGERBERG, J. and VERSPAGEN, B. (2003), "The Impact of EU Regional Support on Growth and Concergence in the European Union", JCMS 41, 621-644.
- CHATTERJI, M. and DEWHURST, J. (1996), "Convergence Clubs and Relative Economic Performance in Great Britain", Regional Studies 30, 31-40.
- COULOMBE, S. and DAY, K.M. (1999), "Economic Growth and Regional Income Disparities in Canada and the Northern United States", Canadian Public Policy Analyse de Politiques 25, 155-178.
- COULOMBE, S. and LEE, F.C. (1995), "Convergence across Canadian Provinces, 1961 to 1991", Canadian Journal of Economics 28, 886-898.
- COULOMBE, S. and TREMBLAY, J.-F. (1998), "Human Capital and Regional Convergence in Canada", CSLS Conference on the State of Living Standards and the Quality of Life in Canada.
- DE LA FUENTE, A. (2000), "Convergence across Countries and Regions: Theory and Empirics", CEPR Discussion Papers 2465.
- DÖRING, T. (2004), "Räumliche Wissens-Spillovers und regionales Wirtschaftswachstum", Schmollers Jahrbuch 1.
- ECKEY, H.-F.; KOSFELD, R. and TÜRCK, M. (2005), "Intra- und Internationale Spillover-Effekte zwischen den EU-Regionen", Journal of Economics and Statistics 225, 600-621.
- FUNKE, M. and NIEBUHR, A. (2000), "Spatial R&D Spillovers and Economic Growth Evidence from West Germany", HWWA Discussion Papers 98.
- GALOR, O. (1996), "Convergence? Inferences from Theoretical Models", The Economic Journal 106, 1056-1069.
- GETIS, A. and ORD, J.K. (1992), "The Analysis of Spatial Association by Use of Distance Statistics", Geografical Analysis 24.
- GOLOVANOVA, S.V. (2010), "Relational Rent and Clusters' Development in Russia", EACGS Conference 2010.
- GOSKOMSTAT (2009), "Tables on Regional GRP per Capita", http://www.gks.ru
- GUENTHER, J. (2010), "Research Cooperation in a Post-Transition Region What Determines the Innovation Success?", EACGS Conference 2010.
- HÄGGSTRÖM, O. (2002), "Finite Markov Chains and Algorithmic Applications", Cambridge University Press, 1. edition.
- HOSER, B. and SCHRÖDER, J. (2007), "Automatic Determination of Clusters", OR Proceedings 2006, 439-444.
- KALDOR, N. (1957), "A Model of Economic Growth", The Economic Journal 67, 591-624.

- KARLSTRÖM, A. and CECCATO, V. (2002), "A New Information Theoretical Measure of Global and Local Spatial Association", Jahrbuch für Regionalwissenschaft 22, 13-40.
- KEILBACH, M. (2002), "Determinanten der räumlichen Kenzentration von Industrie- und Dienstleistungsbranchen. Eine Empirische Analyse für Westdeutschland", Jahrbuch für Regionalwissenschaft 22, 25-51.
- KRUGMAN, P. (1991), "Increasing Returns and Economic Geography", Journal of Political Economy 99, 483-499.
- KRUGMAN, P. (1998a), "Space: The Final Frontier", The Journal of Economic Perspectives 12, 161-174.
- KRUGMAN, P. (1998b), "What's new about the new Economic Geography?", Oxford Review of Economic Policy 14, 7-17.
- LE GALLO, J. and DALL'ERBA, S. (2006), "Evaluating the Temporal and Spatial Heterogeneity of the European Convergence Process", Journal of Regional Science 46, 269-288.
- MOßIG, I. (2002), "Konzeptioneller Überblick zur Erklärung der Existenz geographischer Cluster. Evolution, Institutionen und die Bedeutung des Faktors Wissen", Jahrbuch für Regionalwissenschaft 22, 143-161.
- MORAN, P.A.P. (1950), "Notes of Continuous Stochastic Phenomena", Biometrika 37.
- NIEBUHR, A. (2001), "Convergence and the Effects of Spatial Interaction", Jahrbuch für Regionalwissenschaft 21, 113-133.
- PARZEN, E. (1962), "On Estimation of a Propability Density Function and Mode", Annals of Mathematical Statistics 33, 1065-1076.
- PERROUX, F. (1948), "Esquisse d'une théorie de l'economie dominante", Economique appliqué 1, 243-300.
- PERROUX, F. (1988), "The Pole of Development's New Place in a General Theory of Economic Activity", in HIGGINS, B. and SAVOIE, D.J. eds., "Regional Economic Development: Essays in Honour of Francois Perroux", Boston: Unwin Hyman.
- POPOV, V. (2001), "Reform Strategies and Economic Performance of Russia's Regions", World Development 29, 865-886.
- QUAH, D.T. (1995), "Regional Convergence Clusters Across Europe", Centre for Economic Performance Discussion Papers 274.
- SCHULZE, P.M. (1993), "Zur Messung räumlicher Autokorrelation", Jahrbuch der Regionalwissenschaft 14, 58-78.
- SOLANKO, L. (2003), "An Empirical Note on Growth and Convergence Across Russian Regions", BOFIT Discussion Papers 9.
- SOLOW, R.M. (1956), "A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth", The Quarterly Journal of Economics 70, 65-94.

- SWAN, T.W. (1956), "Economic Growth and Capital Accumulation", Economic Record 32, 334-361.
- THEODERA (2008), http://www.theodora.com/maps.
- TIEFELSDORF, M.; GRIFFITH, D.A. and BOOTS, B. (1999), "A Variance-Stabilizing Coding Scheme for Spatial Link Matrices", Environment and Planning 31, 165-180.
- TIEFELSDORF, M. (2002), "The Saddlepoint Approximation of Moran's I and Local Moran's I<sub>i</sub>'s Reference Distributions and Their Numerical Evaluation", Geographical Analysis 34, 187-206.
- TONDL, M. (2001), "Convergence After Divergence? Regional Growth in Europe", Springer, New York, 1. edition.
- TRUMBULL, N.S. (2003), "The Impacts of Globalization on St. Petersburg: A Secondary World City in from the Cold?", Annals in Regional Science 37, 533-546.
- VARGA, A. (2000), "Local Academic Knowledge Spillovers and the Concentration of Economic Activity", Journal of Regional Science 40, 289-309.
- VASILIEV, S. (1994), "Restructuring in Russia", Economic Policy December, 123-136.
- WELFENS, P.J.J. and WIEGERT, R. eds. (2002), "Transformationskrise und neue Wirtschaftsreformen in Russland", Physica, 1. edition.
- WIEGERT, R. (2003), "Transformation, Wachstum und Wettbewerb in Russland", Physica, 1. edition.

#### **EIIW Discussion Papers**

#### ISSN 1430-5445:

Standing orders (usually 13 issues or more p.a.): academic rate 95 Euro p.a.; normal rate 250 Euro p.a.

Single orders: academic rate 10 Euro per copy; normal rate 20 Euro per copy.

Die Zusammenfassungen der Beiträge finden Sie im Internet unter: The abstracts of the publications can be found in the internet under:

#### www.eiiw.eu

- No. 100 **Gavrilenkov, E.:** Macroeconomic Situation in Russia Growth, Investment and Capital Flows, October 2002
- No. 101 Agata, K.: Internet, Economic Growth and Globalization, November 2002
- No. 102 Blind, K.; Jungmittag, A.: Ausländische Direktinvestitionen, Importe und Innovationen im Dienstleistungsgewerbe, February 2003
- No. 103 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kirn, T.: Mittelstandsentwicklung, BASEL-II-Kreditmarktprobleme und Kapitalmarktperspektiven, Juli 2003
- No. 104 **Standke, K.-H.:** The Impact of International Organisations on National Science and Technology Policy and on Good Governance, March 2003
- No. 105 Welfens, P.J.J.: Exchange Rate Dynamics and Structural Adjustment in Europe, May 2003
- No. 106 Welfens, P.J.J.; Jungmittag, A.; Kauffmann, A.; Schumann, Ch.: EU Eastern Enlargement and Structural Change: Specialization Patterns in Accession Countries and Economic Dynamics in the Single Market, May 2003
- No. 107 Welfens, P.J.J.: Überwindung der Wirtschaftskrise in der Eurozone: Stabilitäts-, Wachstums- und Strukturpolitik, September 2003
- No. 108 Welfens, P.J.J.: Risk Pricing, Investment and Prudential Supervision: A Critical Evaluation of Basel II Rules, September 2003
- No. 109 Welfens, P.J.J.; Ponder, J.K.: Digital EU Eastern Enlargement, October 2003
- No. 110 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: What Have We Learned About The Employment Effects of Severance Pay? Further Iterations of Lazear et al., October 2003
- No. 111 Gavrilenkov, E.: Diversification of the Russian Economy and Growth, October 2003
- No. 112 Wiegert, R.: Russia's Banking System, the Central Bank and the Exchange Rate Regime, November 2003
- No. 113 Shi, S.: China's Accession to WTO and its Impacts on Foreign Direct Investment, November 2003

- No. 114 Welfens, P.J.J.: The End of the Stability Pact: Arguments for a New Treaty, December 2003
- No. 115 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: The effect of worker representation on employment behaviour in Germany: another case of -2.5%, January 2004
- No. 116 **Borbèly, D.:** EU Export Specialization Patterns in Selected Accession Countries, March 2004
- No. 117 Welfens, P.J.J.: Auf dem Weg in eine europäische Informations- und Wissensgesellschaft: Probleme, Weichenstellungen, Politikoptionen, Januar 2004
- No. 118 Markova, E.: Liberalisation of Telecommunications in Russia, December 2003
- No. 119 Welfens, P.J.J.; Markova, E.: Private and Public Financing of Infrastructure: Theory, International Experience and Policy Implications for Russia, February 2004
- No. 120 Welfens, P.J.J.: EU Innovation Policy: Analysis and Critique, March 2004
- No. 121 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Politikberatung und empirische Wirtschaftsforschung: Entwicklungen, Probleme, Optionen für mehr Rationalität in der Wirtschaftspolitik, März 2004
- No. 122 **Borbèly, D.:** Competition among Cohesion and Accession Countries: Comparative Analysis of Specialization within the EU Market, June 2004
- No. 123 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Soziale Marktwirtschaft: Probleme und Reformoptionen im Kontext der Expansion der Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologie, Mai 2004
- No. 124 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kauffmann, A.; Keim, M.: Liberalization of Electricity Markets in Selected European Countries, July 2004
- No. 125 Bartelmus, P.: SEEA Revision: Accounting for Sustainability?, August 2004
- No. 126 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbèly, D.: Exchange Rate Developments and Stock Market Dynamics in Transition Countries: Theory and Empirical Analysis, November 2004
- No. 127 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovations in the Digital Economy: Promotion of R&D and Growth in Open Economies, January 2005
- No. 128 Welfens, P.J.J.: Savings, Investment and Growth: New Approaches for Macroeconomic Modelling, February 2005
- No. 129 **Pospiezna, P.:** The application of EU Common Trade Policy in new Memberstates after Enlargement – Consequences on Russia's Trade with Poland, March 2005
- No. 130 **Pospiezna, P.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Economic Opening up of Russia: Establishment of new EU-RF Trade Relations in View of EU Eastern Enlargement, April 2005
- No. 131 Welfens, P.J.J.: Significant Market Power in Telecommunications: Theoretical and Practical Aspects, May 2005
- No. 132 Welfens, P.J.J.: A Quasi-Cobb Douglas Production Function with Sectoral Progress: Theory and Application to the New Economy, May 2005
- No. 133 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J:** Institutions, Telecommunications Dynamics and Policy Challenges: Theory and Empirical Analysis for Germany, May 2005

- No. 134 Libman, A.: Russia's Integration into the World Economy: An Interjurisdictional Competition View, June 2005
- No. 135 Feiguine, G.: Beitritt Russlands zur WTO Probleme und Perspektiven, September 2005
- No. 136 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU Policy Options, October 2005
- No. 137 Welfens, P.J.J.: Schattenregulierung in der Telekommunikationswirtschaft, November 2005
- No. 138 **Borbèly, D.:** Determinants of Trade Specialization in the New EU Member States, November 2005
- No. 139 Welfens, P.J.J.: Interdependency of Real Exchange Rate, Trade, Innovation, Structural Change and Growth, December 2005
- No. 140 **Borbély D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Context of EU Eastern Enlargement, January 2006
- No. 141 Schumann, Ch.: Financing Studies: Financial Support schemes for students in selected countries, January 2006
- No. 142 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Innovationen, Neue Märkte und Telekomregulierung, März 2006
- No. 143 Welfens, P.J.J.: Information and Communication Technology: Dynamics, Integration and Economic Stability, July 2006
- No. 144 Welfens, P.J.J.: Grundlagen rationaler Transportpolitik bei Integration, August 2006
- No. 145 **Jungmittag, A.:** Technological Specialization as a driving Force of Production Specialization, October 2006
- No. 146 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU-Policy Options, October 2006
- No. 147 Welfens, P.J.J.: Internationalization of EU ICT Industries: The Case of SAP, December 2006
- No. 148 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marktwirtschaftliche Perspektiven der Energiepolitik in der EU: Ziele, Probleme, Politikoptionen, Dezember 2006
- No. 149 Vogelsang, M.: Trade of IT Services in a Macroeconomic General Equilibrium Model, December 2006
- No. 150 **Cassel, D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Regional Integration, Institutional Dynamics and International Competitiveness, December 2006
- No. 151 Welfens, P.J.J., Keim, M.: Finanzmarktintegration und Wirtschaftsentwicklung im Kontext der EU-Osterweiterung, März 2007
- No. 152 **Kutlina, Z.:** Realwirtschaftliche und monetäre Entwicklungen im Transformationsprozess ausgewählter mittel- und osteuropäischer Länder, April 2007
- No. 153 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély, D.: Structural Change, Growth and Bazaar Effects in the Single EU Market, September 2008
- No. 154 **Feiguine, G.:** Die Beziehungen zwischen Russland und der EU nach der EU-Osterweiterung: Stand und Entwicklungsperspektiven, Oktober 2008

- No. 155 Welfens, P.J.J.: Ungelöste Probleme der Bankenaufsicht, Oktober 2008
- No. 156 Addison J.T.: The Performance Effects of Unions. Codetermination, and Employee Involvement: Comparing the United States and Germany (With an Addendum on the United Kingdom), November 2008
- No. 157 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfoliomodell und langfristiges Wachstum: Neue Makroperspektiven, November 2008
- No. 158 Welfens, P.J.J.: Growth, Structural Dynamics and EU Integration in the Context of the Lisbon Agenda, November 2008
- No. 159 Welfens, P.J.J.: Growth, Innovation and Natural Resources, December 2008
- No. 160 Islami, M.: Interdependence Between Foreign Exchange Markets and Stock Markets in Selected European Countries, December 2008
- No. 161 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfolio Modelling and Growth, January 2009
- No. 162 Bartelmus, P.: Sustainable Development Has It Run Its Course?, January 2009
- No. 163 Welfens, P.J.J.: Intégration Européenne et Mondialisation: Défis, Débats, Options, February 2009
- No. 164 Welfens, P.J.J.: ЭКОНОМИЧЕСКИЙ РОСТ, ИННОВАЦИИ И ПРИРОДНЫЕ РЕСУРСЫ, February 2009
- No. 165 Welfens, P.J.J.; Vogelsang, M.: Regulierung und Innovationsdynamik in der EU-Telekommunikationswirtschaft, February 2009
- No. 166 Welfens, P.J.J.: The International Banking Crisis: Lessons and EU Reforms, February 2009
- No. 167 Schröder, C.: Financial System and Innovations: Determinants of Early Stage Venture Capital in Europe, March 2009
- No. 168 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marshall-Lerner Condition and Economic Globalization, April 2009
- No. 169 Welfens, P.J.J.: Explaining Oil Price Dynamics, May 2009
- No. 170 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély, D.: Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Single EU Market, August 2009
- No. 171 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovationen und Transatlantische Bankenkrise: Eine ordnungspolitische Analyse, August 2009
- No. 172 Erdem, D.; Meyer, K.: Natural Gas Import Dynamics and Russia's Role in the Security of Germany's Supply Strategy, December 2009
- No. 173 Welfens P.J.J; Perret K.J.: Structural Change, Specialization and Growth in EU 25, January 2010
- No. 174 Welfens P.J.J.; Perret K.J.; Erdem D.: Global Economic Sustainability Indicator: Analysis and Policy Options for the Copenhagen Process, February 2010
- No. 175 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rating, Kapitalmarktsignale und Risikomanagement: Reformansätze nach der Transatlantischen Bankenkrise, Februar 2010
- No. 176 Mahmutovic, Z.: Patendatenbank: Implementierung und Nutzung, Juli 2010
- No. 177 Welfens, P.J.J.: Toward a New Concept of Universal Services: The Role of Digital Mobile Services and Network Neutrality, November 2010

#### **EIIW Economic Policy Analysis:**

- No. 1 Welfens, P.J.J.: Globalisierung der Wirtschaft und Krise des Sozialstaats: Ist die Wirtschaftswissenschaft am Ende?, April 1997
- No. 2 Welfens, P.J.J.: Nach der D-Mark kommt die E-Mark: Auf dem Weg zur EU-Währungsunion, Juli 1997
- No. 3 Welfens, P.J.J.: Beschäftigungsförderliche Steuerreform in Deutschland zum Euro-Start: Für eine wachstumsorientierte Doppelsteuerreform, Oktober 1998

Fordern Sie den EIIW Newsletter an: <u>www.eiiw.eu</u> Please subscribe to EIIW Newsletter: <u>www.eiiw.eu</u>

#### Weitere Beiträge von Interesse: Titels of related interest:

Most recent books also see the last page.

ISLAMI, M. (2010), Interdependenz zwischen Devisen- und Aktienmärkten in ausgewählten EU-Ländern, Theorie und empirische Analyse, Hamburg: Verlag Dr. Kovac.

VOGELSANG, M. (2010), Digitalization in Open Economies, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; et al. (2009), A Europe of achievements in a Changing World, European Commission.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; BORBÉLY, D. (2009), Europäische Integration und Digitale Weltwirtschaft, Band 4: EU-Ostererweiterung, IKT und Strukturwandel, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

KEIM, M. (2010), Europäische Integration und Digitale Weltwirtschaft, Band 3: Finanzmarktintegration in Europa, Implikationen für Stabilität und Wachstum in sozialen Marktwirtschaften, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

BLEISCHWITZ, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; ZHANG, Z. (2009), Sustainable Growth and Resource Productivity, Sheffield: Greanleaf.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; ADDISON, J.T. (2009), Innovation, Employment and Growth Policy Issues in the EU and the US, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; RYAN, C.; CHIRATHIVAT, S.; KNIPPING, F. (2009), EU-ASEAN, Facing Economic Globalisation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2009), Transatlantische Bankenkrise, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WOLF, H.C.; WOLTERS, J. (eds., 2008), International Economics and Economic Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WALTHER-KLAUS, E. (eds., 2008), Digital Excelence, University Meets Economy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2008), Digital Integration, Growth and Rational Regulation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2007), Innovation in Macroeconomics, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WESKE, M. (eds., 2007), Digital Economic Dynamics, Innovations, Networks and Regulations, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WESKE, M. (eds., 2006): Innovations, Digital Economic Dynamics and Regulatory Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., KNIPPING, F., CHIRATHIVAT, S., RYAN, C. (eds., 2006): Integration in Asia and Europe: Historical Dynamics, Political Issues and Economic Perspectives, Heidelberg: Springer.

BROADMAN, H.G., PAAS, T., WELFENS, P.J.J. (eds., 2006): Economic Liberalization and Integration Policy Options for Eastern Europe and Russia, Heidelberg: Springer.

BORBÉLY, D. (2006): Trade Specialization in the Enlarged European Union, Heidelberg/Berlin: Springer.

JUNGMITTAG, A. (2006): Internationale Innovationsdynamik, Spezialisierung und Wirtschaftswachstum in der EU, Heidelberg: Physica.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WZIATEK-KUBIAK, (eds., 2005): Structural Change and Exchange Rate Dynamics – The Economics of EU Eastern Enlargement; Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., ZOCHE, P., JUNGMITTAG, A. (et al. 2005): Internetwirtschaft 2010 (final Report for the German Federal Government; joint study EIIW and Fraunhofer Institute for System Dynamics and Innovation, Karlsruhe), Heidelberg: Physica.

GRAHAM, E., ODING, N., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Internationalization and Economic Policy Reforms in Transition Countries, Heidelberg: Springer.

GAVRILENKOW, E., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Infrastructure, Investments and Economic Integration: Perspectives for Eastern Europe and Russia, Moscow: HSE.

APOLTE, T.; CASPERS, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J. (2004), Ordnungsökonomische Grundlagen nationaler und internationaler Wirtschaftspolitik, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

GAVRILENKOV, E.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; WIEGERT, R. (2004), Economic Opening Up and Growth in Russia, Heidelberg and New York: Springer.